Austin v. United States of America

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE
EASTERN DIVISION
JACK RAY AUSTIN,
Petitioner,
V. No. 1:18ev-01061JDB-jay
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Respondent.

ORDER GRANTING MOTION TO WITHDRAW MOTION TO AMEND,
DIRECTING CLERK TO TERMINATE MOTION,
DENYING MOTION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS,
DENYING § 2255 PETITION,
DENYING A CERTIFICATE OF APPEALABILITY
AND
DENYING LEAVE TO APPEALIN FORMA PAUPERIS
On April 9, 2018, Petitioner, Jack Ray Austin, filedra se motion to vacate, set aside, or
correct his sentence pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 2h85Fetition”). (Docket Entry (“D.E.”) 1.)For
the following reasons, the Petition is DENIED.
BACKGROUND
On June 7, 2002, Austin enggra plea of guiltyin the United States District Court for the
Western District of Tennessee to one count of armed bank robbery, in violation of .8 U.S

§ 2113(a)and(d), and one count aisinga firearm duringand in relation to a crimef @iolence,

in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 924)c (United Sates v. Austin, No. 1:02<r-10007JDB-1 (“No. 02-

1 On July 11, 209, Petitioner filed a motion to amend the Petiti@E. 25), which he
later moved to withdraw(D.E. 28). The motion to withdrawD.E. 28) is GRANTED, and the
Clerk is DIRECTED to terminate the motion at D.E. 25. On September 25, B@lfntatdiled
adocument styled “Motion for Writ of Mandamus.” (D.E. 27.) It is apparent from therstate
contained in the motion that Petitioner meant to file that document in the Sixth Ciocuittc®
Appeals. However, to the extent the document can be liberally construed as a motioualiiog a r
on the merits of the Petition, the motion is DENIED as moot.

Doc. 29

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/tennessee/tnwdce/1:2018cv01061/80316/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/tennessee/tnwdce/1:2018cv01061/80316/29/
https://dockets.justia.com/

cr-10007”), D.E. 51, 52(W.D. Tenn).) The Court conducted a heariimgJanuary 200&mnd
sentencethe Defendanto sixty-six months’ imprisonment o@ount 1 anaighty-four months
incarceration on Count 2, for a total term of imprisonment of 150 mén(hs, D.E. 79.) Five
years of supervised release on each conviction was also impodéd. (

Twelve years later, while on supervised release, Austitered a bank in Alamo,
Tennesseewearing “a black ski mask arfulue latex gloves.” (2015 Presentence Report (the
“2015 PSR”) at 4.) He approached a teller, “pointed a firearm at her, handed gearadbardered
her to put money in the bag, and she complietd)) (He “then went to a second teller” and did
the same. I¢l.)

In November 2015, a federal grand jury sitting in the Western District of $seee
returned an indictment charging Austin with armed bank robbery, in violation of 18 U.S.C.
§ 2113(a). (United Sates v. Austin, 1:15-cr-10094JDB-1 (“No. 15cr-10094"), D.E. 1 (W.D.
Tenn.).) A petition for offender under supervision (the “Supervision Petition”) wakifil@is
20 criminal casecharginghim with violating the conditions of supervised release imposed in
thatcase. (No. 02r-10007 D.E. 99.) Thedocument alleged that Austiommitted crimes while
on supervised release afalled to perform the required community serviceéd., (D.E. 99 at
PagelD 162 In June 2016Austin pleaded guilty to bank robbery without a plea agreement and
admittedto the violations set forth in the Supervision Petition. (N&<t10094,D.E. 47 at
PagelD 138.) During the plea hearitlyg Defendanacknowledged, under oath, that he could be
required to serve up tanetysix monthsin prison for the supervised release violasioid., D.E.

47 at PagelD 14%

2 The Court refes to Petitioner as “the Defendant” in its discussion of the underlying
criminal cass.
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Austin was assigned base offense level &0 for the robbery offense, pursuant to
§ 2B3.1(a)of theUnited States Sentencing Commisst@uidelines Manual (the “Guidelines” or
“U.S.S.G.”), andalso receivedhe following enhancement& pointsunder8 2B3.1(b)(1) for
taking “the property of a financial institution,” and 6 points und@B8§8.1(b)(2)(B) because a
firearm was “otherwisesed”’® (2015 PSR at 6.)He received &-pointdecrease in his offense
level for acceptance of responsibilityd.(at 6-7 (citing U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1(a), (b).) “Basapbn
a total offense level of 25 and a criminal history category of Ill, the foédenprisonment range
[wag 70 months to 87 months.” Id; at 20 (bolding omitted). The advisoryrange on the
supervised release violations, which was set forth in a worksheet attached to thasi®uape
Petition (the “Worksheet”)wvas determined to Herty-six to fifty-sevenmonths’incarceratiorf
(No. 02¢r-10007, D.E. 99 at PagelD 164.)

A consolidated sentencing hearing was conducted in October g86No0. 15cr-10094,
D.E.48.) The Court sentenced Austin to consecutive terms of imprisonmsevearitymonths
for thearmed robbery anfibrty-six monthsfor the supervised release violation$d.,(D.E. 48at
PagelD B1-82.)

In his direct appealAustin challenged the imposition of the supervised release sentence
consecutively to the armed robbery senteridrited Satesv. Austin, No. 175592, D.E.29-2at

2 (6th Cir. Mar. 9, 2018 The Sixth Circuit rejected the argumemd., D.E. 292 at2-3.

3 All references to the Guidelines are to those in effect on the datestifi's sentencing
in October 2016.See United States Sentencing Commissiaundelines Manual (eff. Nov. 2015).

4 Under the Guidelines, Austin’s violation of his supervised release by means of his 2015
bankrobbery waglassified ag GradeA violation, which represented his “[m]ost [s]erioggrade
of [v]iolation.” (No. 02€r-10007, D.E. 99 at PagelD64 (citing U.S.S.G.8 7B11(b)).) With a
criminal history categorpf V, as determined at the time of #8603 sentencinghe resulting
Guidelines rangéor the supervised release violatiomasforty-six to fifty-sevenmonths. (See
id.); see also Revocation Table in U.S.S.G. § 7B1.4(a).
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DISCUSSION

Petitiorer assers three claimsof attorney ineffective assistancén daims 1and 2,he
maintains that his trial and appellate counslebuld haveargual that the “[Clourt efred in
sentencing [him] to 46 months” on the supervised release violation because theoristat
maximum [was] 36 months.” (D.E. 1 at PagelD &1 contendsn Claim 3that his appellate
counsel was ineffectivéor failing to argue thathe Government did not establish the factual
predicate for the §oint enhancement under the Guidelifefd. at PagelD 10.)Respondent
argues thathe claims are without merit. (D.E5at PagelD62—64.) The Court agrees.

A. Legal Standards

A prisoner seeking to vacate his sentence under 8 2255 “must allege either (1) ah erro
constitutional magnitude; (2) a sentence imposed outside the statutory limits; oe R)ranf fact
or law that was so fundamental as to render the entire piogeaadalid.” Short v. United States,
471 F.3d 686, 691 (6th Cir. 2006) (citation and internal quotation marks omitteeffective
assistance of counsel is an “error of constitutional magnituSiee’Pough v. United Sates, 442
F.3d 959, 964 (6th Cir. 2006).

A claim that an attorney’s ineffective assistance has deprived a criminatdeteof his
Sixth Amendment right to counsel is controlled by the standards stat&fidkland v.
Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). To succeed on sucassertiona petitioner must demonstrate

two elements: (1) “that counsel's performance was deficient”; and (2) “that thaedef

> The Court liberally construedl claims as asserting the ineffective assistance of counsel.
To the extent the Petition could be read as asserting-ataned claims challenging the sentences,
such argumentswould be deemed waived as not having been raised on direct apfeal.
Weinberger v. United Sates, 268 F.3d 346, 351 (6th Cir. 200IN6rmally, sentencing challenges
must be made odirect appeal or they are waivgd
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performance prejudiced the defensdd. at 687. “The benchmark for judging any claim of
ineffectiveness must be whethemosel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the
adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced aljusticsat 686.

To establish deficient performance, a petitioner “must show that counsel’saefat&on
fell below an objective standard of reasonablenegd.’at 688. A court considering a claim of
ineffective assistance must apply “a strong presumption” that the atonepyesentation was
“within the wide range of reasonable professional assistématds, the defendant must overcome
the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action might derednsbund
trial strategy.” Id. at 689 (internal quotation marks and citation omitte).attorney’s “strategic
choices” are “virtually unchallengeable” if based ontlofough investigation of law and facts
relevant to plausible options.ld. at 690. “[S]trategic choicesnadeafter less than complete
investigation are reasonable precisely to the extent that reasonabkspmoél judgments support
the limitations on investigation.fd. at 690-91.

To demonstrate prejudice, a petitioner must establish “a reasonable pryltfadiibut for
counsel’s unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been diffedeat
694. “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the
outcome.” Id. “It is not enough ‘to show that the errors had some conceivable effect on the
outcome of the proceeding.Marrington v. Richter, 562 U.S. 86104 (2011) (quotin@rickland,
466 U.S. at 693). Instead, “[c]Jounsel’s errors must be ‘so serious as to deprivietitaudieof a
fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable.Td. (quotingStrickland, 466 U.S. at 687).

B. Claims 1 and 2

Austin's assertions of attorney ineffective assistandglaims 1 and 2 are premised on his

allegation thathe statutory maximum fohis supervised releas@lations was thirtysix months.



Because the allegation is without merit as a matter off@itionercannot show that his attorneys
were ineffective in failing t@rgue that theevocation sentenaexceededhe statutory maximum
or that he was prejudiced by their conduct.

Courts are authorizdd “revoke a term of supervised release” updef@ndant’s \olation
of the conditions oSupervised releasel8 U.S.C. § 3583(e)(3). Upon revocation, a court may
impose no “more than 5 years in prisbtine offense that resulted in the term of supervised release
is a class A felony, [and no] more than 3 years in prison if such offense is B édssy.” Id.

In Petitioner’s case, the convictions that resulted in the terms of supenisasereere
his Class B felony for armed robbery (Count One of the 2002 indictnaertthis Class A felony
for the use ofa firearm during ash in relation to a crime of violence (Countd? the 2002
indictmen).® (See No. 02cr-10007, D.E. 99 at PagelD 164.pustin's supervised release
violations, to which he pleaded guilty, therefore subjected him to a maximuhreef years’
imprisonment on Count 1 and up to five years on Count Re forty-six-month sentencbe
receivedell well below the potential aggregateafjht yearsandalsofourteen months below the
five-year maximum he could have received on Count 2eal@acordingly, a objection that the
sentencexxceeded the statutory maximum would have been faitild,“the failure to make futile
objections doenot constitute ineffective assistancéltmanv. Winn, 644 F. App’x 637, 644 (6th

Cir. 2016).

® A conviction is eClass A felonyif it carries a maximum penalty of death or life in prison,
while an offense ia Class B felonyf the term of imprisonmenis twenty-five years omore 18
U.S.C. 8§ 3559(a)(H?2). Armed robbery is a Class B felotynited Statesv. McCoy, 53 F. Appx
753, 753 (6th Cir. 2002and theuse of a firearm during and in furtherance of a crime of violence
is a Class A felonyUnited States v. Howard, No. 3:07CR66@1, 2008 WL 423432, at *1 (N.D.
Ohio Feb. 14, 2008).
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The inmateneverthelessomplains thathe Worksheeshowsthat he was to receive no
more than thirtysix months in prison. (D.B.at PagelD 6.) In suppohequoteghat document’s
statement that “the statutory maximum term of imprisonment is 36 mbnttts) The argument
is without merit.

The full sentence from the Worksheet reads as folloWeing originally convicted of a
Class B felony (Coun®né, the statutory maximum term of imprisonment is 36 mqrahd the
statutory maximum term of imprisonment for a Class A felony (Count Two) is 6theaith an
aggregate total of 96 months(No. 02-cr-10007, D.E. 99 at PagelD64) The statemenin its
entirety, is legally correct, and therefore does not support Petitioner's argumettitettsiatutory
maximum was thirtysix months.Claims 1 and 2 are DENIED.

C. Claim 3

In Claim 3,Austininsiststhat his appellate counsel was ineffective for failing to appeal the
Guidelines enhancement for his use of a firearm during the robfery. 1at PagelD 10.) He
alleges that “[n]othing in the PS[R] suggest[ed] that [he] had a fireafmsihands or in [his]
possession.” I{l. at PagelD 11.)The claim is without merit.

The Guidelines provide that the offense level for robbery is to be “increagefdeiels”
where a “firearm was otherwise used.” U.S.S.G. 8§ 2B3.1(b)(2)(B)therwise useéd . .means
that the conduct did not amount to the discharge of a firearm but was more than brandishing,
displaying, or possessing a firearm or other dangerous weapon.” U.S.S.G. EhR11{).

At Petitioner'schange of plea hearing, the Governmeattorney summarized the offense
conduct, stating in part:

On November th, 2015, the defendant, Jack Ray Austin, robbed the

BankcorpSouth Bank in Alamo, Tennessee. [He] entered the side door of the bank
wearing a black mask, latex gloves and holding a firearm which he poinged at



teller. He demanded money from two tellers who then turned over bank money to
him against their will.

(No. 15€r-10094,D.E. 47 at PagelD 150.) Austin affirmed, under oath, tth@tGovernment’s
summary was correc{ld., D.E. 47at PagelD152.) At sentencing, the Court made a finding that
the enhancement appliedd.( D.E. 48 at PagelD 177.)

Contrary to Petitioner’assertion that there was no evidence to support the enhancement,
his admitted conduct of pointing agun at the tellersand demanding money constituted the
“otherwise use[]” of a firearm See United Sates v. Bolden, 479 F.3d 455, 463 (6th Cir. 2007)
(“Pointing a gun while telling someone what to do obviously goes beyond . . . brandistdng,

. amounts tdotherwise using’a firearm?). In light of his client’s guilty plea and admissions,
counselrepresented to the Cowat sentencinghat his client had “wanted to vigorously defend”
against application of the enhancement, buthbkdjust didn’'t see how [he] could do that.Ng.
15-cr-10094, D.E. 4&t PagelD 177.)

Becausethe enhancement was properly applied, appellate counsel did not perform
deficiently bydeciding noto challenge thenhancementFor the same reason, Petitioner was not
prejudiced by counsel’s failure to raise the issue. Claim 3 is DENIED.

APPEAL ISSUES

A 8§ 225 petitioner may not proceed on appeal unless a district or circuit judge issues a
certificate of appealability (‘COA”). 28 U.S.C. § 2253(c)(1); FedApp. P. 22(b)(1). A COA
may issue only if the petitioner has mé&a@esubstantial showing of the denial of a constitutional
right” 28 U.S.C. 8§ 2253(c)(2[3). A substantial showing is made when the petitioner
demonstrates that “reasonableigts could debate whether (or, for that matter, agree that) the
petition should have been resolved in a different manner or that the issues presertatbgeate

to deserve encouragement to proceed furthevlifler-El v. Cockrell, 537 U.S. 322, 336 (D3)
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(quotingSack v. McDanidl, 529 U.S. 473, 484 (2000)). “If the petition was denied on procedural
grounds, the petitioner must show, ‘at least, that jurists of reason would find itldelveti@ther
the petition states a valid claim of the denial afoastitutional right and that jurists of reason
would find it debatable whether the district court was correct in its puoalediling.” Dufresne
v. Palmer, 876 F.3d 248, 252-53 (6th Cir. 2017) (per curiam) (quddiack, 529 U.S. at 484).

In this case, reasonable jurists would not debate the correctness of the Cousits deci
deny the Petition. Because any appeal by Petitioner does not deserve attenGayrt DENIES
a certificate of appealability.

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 24(a), a party seeking paiuigeorsta
appeal must first file a motion in the district court, along with a supporting atfidéed. R. App.
P. 24(a). However, Rule 24(a) also provides that if the district court cettifitan appeal would
not be taken in good faith, the prisoner must file his motion to pracefedma pauperis in the
appellate courtld.

In this case, for the same reason it denies a COA, the Court CERTIFIES, pursuast to Rul
24(a), that any appeal in this matter would not be taken in good faith. Leave tbiagpeaa
pauperisis therefore DENIED.

IT IS SO ORDERED thi40th day of October 2019.

s/ J. DANIEL BREEN
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

" If Petitioner files a notice of appehle must pay the full $505.00 appellate filing fee or
file a motion to proceeth forma pauperis and supporting affidavit in the Sixth Circuit Court of
Appeals within thirty days.
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